### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. SC09-1920 Lower Tribunal No.: 98-17084 CFAWS

WILLIE SETH CRAIN, JR.,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

/

### ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TWELFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, FLORIDA

# INITIAL BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

Robert T. Strain Florida Bar Number 0325961 Assistant CCRC Office of the Capital Collateral Regional Counsel-Middle Region 3801 Corporex Park Dr. - Suite 210 Tampa, Florida 33619-1136 (813) 740-3544 Counsel for the Appellant

#

#### **PRELIMINARY STATEMENT**

This is the appeal of the circuit court's denial of Willie Seth Crain's motion for postconviction relief which was brought pursuant to Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.851.

Citations shall be as follows: The record on appeal concerning the trial proceedings shall be referred to as "ROA \_\_\_\_\_" followed by the appropriate volume and page numbers. The postconviction record on appeal will be referred to as "PCROA \_\_\_\_\_" followed by the appropriate volume and page numbers. All other references will be self-explanatory or otherwise explained.

### **REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT**

The resolution of the issues in this appeal will determine whether Mr. Crain lives or dies. This Court has allowed oral argument in other capital cases in a similar procedural posture. A full opportunity to air the issues through oral argument would be appropriate given the seriousness of the claims involved and the fact that a life is at stake. Mr. Crain accordingly requests that this Court permit oral argument.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Circuit Court of the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Hillsborough County, Florida, entered the judgment of convictions and sentences which formed the basis for this postconviction proceeding. On October 14, 1998, the

Hillsborough County, Florida, Grand Jury indicted the Defendant, Willie Seth Crain, Jr., for the September 10 or 11, 1998, premeditated first-degree murder and kidnapping with intent to commit homicide of Amanda Victoria Brown. (ROA V3, p. 1; ROA V22, p. 3098). Trial commenced on August 30, 1999, (ROA V3, p. 1 et seq.), and the jury found Crain guilty as charged. (ROA V2, p.259; ROA V21 p. 3199). Following the penalty phase, conducted on September 16 and 17, 1999, (ROA V22, p.3213; ROA V24, p. 3512), the jury unanimously recommended the death penalty. (ROA V2, p. 267; ROA V24 pp. 3674-3675). The State and defense filed sentencing memoranda. (ROA V2, p. 280-295). A Spencer hearing, held pursuant to Spencer v. State, 615 So.2d 688 (Fla. 1993), was conducted on October 11, 1999. (ROA V26, p. 3859). The court sentenced Mr. Crain to death for first-degree murder and a consecutive term of life imprisonment for kidnapping on November 19, 1999. (ROA V2, p. 310-330; ROA V25, p. 3635-3723).

The following factual history is taken from this Court's opinion affirming Mr. Crain's conviction and sentences on direct appeal:

The evidence introduced at trial establishes that on September 9, 1998, Crain's daughter, Cynthia Gay, introduced Crain to Amanda's mother, Kathryn Hartman, at a bar in Hillsborough County. Crain and Hartman danced and talked for four hours, until 1:30 or 2:00 in the morning, then went to Hartman's residence, a trailer located in Hillsborough County, where they remained for approximately thirty minutes. Amanda was spending the night with her father and was not present. However, two photographs of Amanda and some of her toys were visible in the trailer. Before Crain left, Hartman made it clear to Crain that she wanted to see him again.

The next afternoon, September 10, 1998, Crain returned to Hartman's trailer. Hartman testified that Crain smelled of alcohol and carried a cup with a yellow liquid in it. Amanda was present. Crain began talking to Amanda about her homework. He pulled some money out and told Amanda that if she got her homework right, he would give her a dollar. He eventually gave her two dollars. Crain and Amanda sat at the kitchen table playing games and working on her homework. At some point during the afternoon, Crain became aware that Amanda had a loose tooth. After wiggling the tooth, Crain offered Amanda five dollars to let him pull the tooth out, but she refused. Hartman testified that the tooth was not ready to be pulled out. Crain remained at Hartman's residence for approximately one hour. Before he left early in the afternoon, Crain accepted Hartman's invitation to return for dinner that evening.

Crain returned to Hartman's trailer shortly after 7 p.m. Crain still smelled of alcohol and carried the same or a similar plastic cup with a colored liquid. After dinner, Hartman and Crain played more games with Amanda. At some point, Crain mentioned that he had a large videotape collection and invited Hartman and Amanda to his trailer to watch a movie. Amanda asked if he had "Titanic," which she stated was her favorite movie. Crain stated that he did have "Titanic" and Amanda pleaded with her mother to allow them to watch the movie. Hartman was initially reluctant because it was a school night, but she finally agreed. Crain drove Hartman and Amanda approximately one mile to his trailer in his white pickup truck.

They began watching the movie in Crain's living room but were interrupted by a telephone call from Crain's sister. Crain said he did not get along with his sister and asked Hartman to speak to her. At the conclusion of a twenty- to twenty-five-minute phone conversation with Crain's sister, Hartman found the living room unoccupied. Hartman opened a closed door at the rear of the trailer without knocking, and found Amanda and Crain sitting on the bed in Crain's bedroom, watching the movie "Titanic." Both were dressed and Amanda was sitting between Crain's sprawled legs with her back to Crain's front. Crain's arms were around Amanda and he appeared to Hartman to be showing Amanda how to work the remote control. Hartman testified that although she was not overly concerned about what she observed at that time, she nevertheless picked Amanda up and sat Amanda beside her on the bed. Crain, Hartman, and Amanda then watched the movie together in Crain's bedroom. Crain testified at trial that they watched the movie in his bedroom because it was the only air-conditioned room in the trailer.

At some point in the evening, Amanda and Hartman used Crain's bathroom together. While they were in the bathroom, Hartman did not notice Amanda bleeding from any location that Hartman could observe. Hartman did notice a blue cover on the back of the toilet seat. Amanda did not use the bathroom at any other time that evening.

At another point in the evening, Hartman asked Crain if he had any medication for pain. Crain offered her Elavil and Valium. He also offered her some marijuana, which she declined. Crain told Hartman that the Elavil would "really knock the pain out" and would make her sleep for a long time. Hartman elected to take five, five-milligram Valium tablets.FN2 Crain took one Valium tablet.

FN2. At the time she took the Valium, Hartman had a twelve-year addiction to pain pills. Crain testified at trial that he was unaware of the addiction.

Eventually, Hartman decided that it was time to leave. Crain drove Hartman and Amanda back to their residence and accompanied them inside. Amanda took a shower. While checking on Amanda during the shower and helping her dry off and get ready for bed, Hartman did not notice any sores or cuts on Amanda's body. According to Hartman, Crain suggested that Amanda should not go to sleep with wet hair, so Crain blow-dried Amanda's hair in Hartman's bathroom without Hartman present. According to Hartman, when Amanda went to sleep in Hartman's bed around 2:15 a.m., the loose tooth was still in place and it was not bleeding.

According to Hartman, she told Crain, who appeared to be intoxicated at that time, that he could lie down to sober up but she was going to bed. The time was approximately 2:30 a.m. Within five minutes of Hartman going to bed, Crain entered Hartman's bedroom and lay down on the bed with Hartman and Amanda. Hartman testified that she neither invited Crain to lie in her bed nor asked him to leave. Crain was fully clothed and Amanda was wearing a nightgown. Amanda was lying between Hartman and Crain.

Penny Probst, a neighbor of Hartman, testified that at approximately 12 midnight on September 10-11, 1998, she saw a white truck parked immediately behind Hartman's car in Hartman's driveway. In the early morning hours of September 11, Probst observed the truck parked at the side of Hartman's residence with the lights on and the engine running.FN3 Probst heard the truck leave after about five minutes.

FN3. Michelle Rogers, another neighbor of Hartman, testified that she saw a light blue truck parked behind Hartman's car at approximately 10:30 p.m. on September 10, 1998. Rogers further testified that she saw a light blue truck positioned beside the residence at 10:45 p.m. on September 10, 1998. Rogers stated that she left her residence around 11 p.m. and when she returned at 2:30 a.m., she observed the truck parked on the side of the residence with the lights on.

Hartman slept soundly through the night. When she awoke in her bed alone the next morning, she discovered that Amanda was missing. Hartman testified her alarm clock read 6:12 a.m. when she awoke. Hartman immediately called Crain on his cell phone. At that time, he was at the Courtney Campbell boat ramp in Hillsborough County loading his boat. He told Hartman that he did not know where Amanda was. Hartman then called the police and reported Amanda's disappearance. At trial, the State presented the testimony of fisherman Albert Darlington, who witnessed Crain towing his boat into the Courtney Campbell loading area at approximately 6:15 a.m. on September 11, 1998. Darlington testified that Crain pulled up to the boat ramp and backed his boat trailer and truck into the water until the truck's front tires were halfway submerged. Crain then got out of his truck and boarded his boat wearing what appeared to be a two-tone maroon shirt and dark slacks, and carrying what appeared to be a rolled-up item of clothing. Crain unhooked his boat and launched it in an overall "odd" manner. Darlington further testified that in the eighteen months prior to Amanda's disappearance, on two occasions Crain told Darlington that Crain had the ability to get rid of a body where no one could find it.FN4.

FN4. It is undisputed that these comments occurred during a discussion between Crain and Darlington regarding Crain's disagreements with other crabbers about Crain's claims that they had stolen from Crain's crab traps.

At around 8:30 a.m. on September 11, Detective Mike Hurley located Crain in his boat in Upper Tampa Bay. Crain was dressed in "slickers" (rubber pants fisherman wear over their clothes), a blue t-shirt, and loafers. Crain and Hurley returned to the boat ramp in Crain's boat. On the ride back, Hurley noticed a small scratch on Crain's upper arm. At the boat ramp, Crain removed his slickers, revealing jeans with the zipper down. Hurley took Crain to the police station for questioning. Crain was cooperative but denied having anything to do with Amanda's disappearance.

At the police station, Detective Al Bracket interviewed Crain. Crain told Bracket that he left Hartman's house alone at about 1:30 in the morning, FN5 went home and accidentally spilled bleach in his own bathroom. Crain claimed that he did not like the smell of bleach, so he spent four hours cleaning his bathroom from about 1:30 to 5:30 in the morning. Later in the same interview, Crain said he cleaned his bathroom with bleach, as was his custom, then cleaned the rest of the

house until 5:30 a.m., at which time he left to go crabbing.FN6.

FN5. Crain testified at trial that he left Hartman's residence between 2:30 and 3:30 in the morning.

FN6. Crain testified at trial that he cleaned his bathroom with bleach at around 3 a.m. and left to go crabbing between 5 a.m. and 6 a.m.

During the questioning, Bracket noticed multiple scratches on Crain's arms and asked Crain how he got them. Crain claimed that he received the scratches while crabbing, but became defensive when Bracket asked him to demonstrate how the scratches were inflicted. Photographs of Crain's body were taken on the morning of September 11, 1998. A forensic pathologist testified at trial that the scratches on Crain's arms probably occurred within a few hours to a day before the photos were taken. Although the pathologist could not identify the source of the scratches with certainty, he testified that all but two of the scratches were more likely to be caused by the fingernails of a seven-year-old child than by another cause. The pathologist also testified that there was one cluster of small gouges on Crain's arm, and it was more likely that these gouges were caused by the small grasping hand of a child of about seven years of age than by another cause.

During a search of Crain's residence, Bracket noticed the strong smell of bleach and recovered an empty bleach bottle. Bracket testified that there were obvious signs of grime and dirt around the edges of the bathroom sink. A blue fitted rug that would go around the base of the toilet was found in Crain's dryer. Another detective applied Luminol, a chemical that reacts both with blood and with bleach, to Crain's bathroom. The detective testified that the floor, the bathtub, and the walls "lit up."

Bracket also recovered two pieces of toilet tissue from the inside rim of Crain's toilet and observed what appeared to be a small blood stain on the seat of the toilet. The tissue pieces, the toilet seat, and the boxer shorts that Crain was wearing on the morning of September 11, 1998 were collected and analyzed for DNA evidence. A forensic scientist for the Florida Department of Law Enforcement (FDLE) testified at trial that two blood stains were found on the toilet seat, one blood stain was found on one of the pieces of toilet tissue,FN7 and one blood stain was found on the boxer shorts. The FDLE forensic scientist testified that the blood stain on the boxer shorts and one of the stains from the toilet seat contained DNA consistent with the DNA extracted from personal items belonging to Amanda Brown. The second stain on the toilet seat and the stain on the tissue contained DNA consistent with a mixture of the DNA profiles of Amanda and Crain. Testimony established that the probability of finding a random match between the DNA profile on the boxer shorts and Amanda's known DNA profile is approximately 1 in 388 million for the Caucasian population.

FN7. The blood stains were very small. The blood stain on the tissue was not visible to the human eye. When a North Carolina laboratory performed an independent analysis on the blood evidence, its expert could not find enough DNA on the tissue stain to corroborate the testimony of the FDLE forensic scientist identifying Crain and Amanda as the sources of the tissue stain.

Detective Hurley supervised an extensive, two-week search for Amanda in Upper Tampa Bay, the land surrounding Upper Tampa Bay (including the Courtney Campbell Causeway), and the land area surrounding the Crain and Hartman residences. Amanda's body was never found. The maroon shirt and dark pants that Darlington saw Crain wearing on the morning of September 11, 1998, also were never recovered.

At trial, the State introduced the testimony of Linda Miller, Maryann Lee, and Frank Stem. Miller and Lee, who were neighbors of Crain's daughter, Gay, testified about a conversation with Crain that occurred at Gay's home on the first Saturday after Amanda's disappearance. Miller and Lee both testified that Miller said to Crain, "Don't worry, you don't have anything to worry about," and "Just remember, you didn't do anything, you didn't hurt that little girl." According to the testimony of Miller and Lee, Crain responded, "Yes, I did do it; yes, you're right, I didn't hurt her, I didn't do anything." Gay testified that Crain said, stuttering, "yes, I did ... did ... didn't do it; yes, you're right, I didn't hurt her."

Frank Stem, Crain's friend and in-law,FN8 testified that about one month prior to Amanda's disappearance, Stem helped Crain lay crab traps in a "special" location. At that time, Crain told Stem that other crabbers would steal the crab traps if they knew of the spot. After Amanda disappeared and during a conversation regarding competing crabbers finding his crab traps, Crain told Stem that if Stem revealed the location of the traps "that it could bury him," meaning Crain, or that Stem had enough "evidence to bury him."

FN8. Stem's daughter was married to Crain's son.

At the conclusion of the State's case, Crain moved for judgments of acquittal of first-degree murder and kidnapping based on the insufficiency of the evidence. The trial court denied Crain's motion. Crain then testified in his defense and denied that he was involved in Amanda's death. He stated that he last saw Amanda while she lay sleeping in her mother's bed in the early morning hours of September 11, 1998.

On the first-degree murder charge in count I, the trial court instructed the jury on the dual theories of premeditated murder and felony murder based on kidnapping "with intent to commit or facilitate the commission of homicide or to inflict bodily harm upon the victim." On the kidnapping charge in count II, the court instructed the jury that the State had to prove that Crain acted "with intent to commit or facilitate the commission of a homicide." The jury found Crain guilty of first-degree murder on a general verdict form. The jury also found Crain guilty of kidnapping as charged. In the penalty phase, the jury unanimously recommended the death sentence. The trial court found three aggravators: (1) prior violent felonies (great weight), (2) the murder was committed during the course of a kidnapping (great weight), and (3) the victim was under the age of twelve (great weight). The court found no statutory mitigators and eight nonstatutory mitigators,FN9 and imposed the death sentence.

FN9. The nonstatutory mitigators the trial court found were: (1) nonstatutory mental health impairment (some weight); (2) mental problems exacerbated by the use of alcohol and drugs, both legal and illegal (some weight); (3) Crain was an uncured pedophile (some weight); (4) Crain had a history of abuse and an unstable home life (modest weight); (5) Crain was deprived of the educational benefits and social learning that one would normally obtain from public education (modest weight); (6) Crain had a history of hard, productive work (some weight); (7) Crain had a good prison record (modest weight); and (8) Crain had the capacity to form loving relationships (modest weight).

Crain v. State, 894 So.2d 59, 62-67 (Fla. 2004).

This Court held that the evidence at trial did not support the appellant's conviction

for kidnapping with intent to facilitate murder and that any error in finding that the

murder was committed in the course of a kidnapping was harmless. It reduced the

conviction of kidnapping to false imprisonment. <u>Crain</u>, 894 So.2d at 78.

As outlined and considered by the postconviction court in its Final Order

Denying Motion to Vacate Judgment of Conviction and Sentence:

[T]he appellant's Motion to Vacate Judgment of Conviction and Sentence was filed on September 8, 2006, pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851. On November 22,2006, the State filed State's Response to Rule 3.851 Motion for Post Conviction Relief. On November 26,2007, the Court held a case management conference and, on November 30,2007, the Court rendered an Order Granting, in Part, Evidentiary Hearing on Motion to Vacate Judgment of Conviction and Sentence and Reserving Ruling, wherein the Court found Defendant was entitled to an evidentiary hearing on claims 1, 2, 3, 4, and 5, and reserved ruling on grounds 6,7, 8, and 9. The Court subsequently held evidentiary hearings on the following dates: December 15, 2008; December 16, 2008; December 17, 2008; December 18, 2008; February 25, 2009; and February 26,2009. Defendant filed Defendant's Closing Argument to Rule 3.851 Motion to Vacate Judgment of Conviction and Sentence on May 19, 2009, and the State filed State's Closing Argument to Rule 3.851 Motion for Postconviction Relief on June 19, 2009. PCROA V 5 903.

#### •••

During the December 15, 2008 evidentiary hearing, trial counsel, Daniel M. Hernandez, Esquire, and Charles Traina, Esquire, each testified. Mr. Hernandez testified that he has been an attorney for 30 years, and at the time of Defendant's trial, he had conducted at least 200 felony jury trials and 7 death penalty trials. Mr. Traina testified that he has been a practicing attorney since 1984, primarily in the area of criminal defense, and at one point became the chief of the capital crimes division at the Office of the Public Defender; although he could not recall exact numbers, Mr. Traina testified that he has tried approximately 100 or 150 jury trials, several of those were capital cases that were not death penalty trials, and 4 were death penalty trials. In the instant case, Mr. Hernandez was primarily responsible for the guilt phase of the trial, while Mr. Traina handled the DNA evidence and testimony as well as the penalty phase.

•••

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