IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WILLIE SETH CRAIN, JR.,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC09-1920 L.T. No. 98-17084 CFAWS

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

SCOTT A. BROWNE ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 0802743 Concourse Center 4 3507 E. Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607-7013 Telephone: (813) 287-7910 Facsimile: (813) 281-5501 scott.browne@myfloridalegal.com

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

In addition, Dr. Sesta's opinion on Crain's intelligence was the same as Dr. Berland's. Dr. Sesta thought from talking to Crain his intelligence would be within normal limits, and in testing him "it was." (V35, 6853). Dr. Sesta administered the WAIS-III and obtained a verbal performance of 80, performance of 79 with a full scale of 78. He also provided a GAMA IQ test and Crain scored an 84, within the normal range. Overall, Dr. Sesta placed Crain in the low average range of intelligence. (V35, 6871). Dr. Sesta's deposition testimony supports, rather than contradicts Dr. Berland's trial testimony. Crain was certainly not retarded and tested in the low average range of intellectual functioning.

The perplexing part of collateral counsel's argument is that he is attempting to demonstrate that defense counsel was deficient for failing to present <u>less favorable mental health</u> <u>testimony</u> in the penalty phase. Dr. Cunningham did not testify that he found either statutory mental mitigator in this case, whereas, as noted above, Dr. Berland found both applicable. The State has not found a single case, nor has the defendant cited any, where trial counsel has been found ineffective under these unusual circumstances. Moreover, the thrust of Dr. Cunningham's testimony was that Crain possessed the profile or risk factors of sex offenders who commit murder. However, since Crain

successfully disposed of Amanda's body in this case, the State was unable to argue that Crain sexually assaulted Amanda before her death. Consequently, Dr. Cunningham appeared to concede a point which defense counsel below would not obviously want to admit in front of the jury. In any case, most, if not all of those risk factors in Crain's background, were presented to the jury.¹⁶ <u>See Raleigh v. State</u>, 932 So. 2d 1054, 1061 (Fla. 2006) (affirming denial of relief where trial court found that the postconviction expert was "essentially no more than a better repackaging" of the trial mental health expert's testimony).

Dr. Cunningham's opinions, while generally favorable to the defense, were no more so than Dr. Berland's testimony during the penalty phase. Indeed, while Dr. Cunningham seemed to go out of his way to criticize Dr. Berland, nothing significant was developed below to cast this case in a different light for sentencing purposes. Dr. Cunningham seemed to present much of the same information that Dr. Berland did and his criticisms of

¹⁶ While generally faulting Dr. Berland for failing to put the emphasis he thought was appropriate on Crain's background, Dr. Cunningham acknowledged that Crain's background of family abuse was presented during the penalty phase. (V57, 7621). He also acknowledged that most of the historical records he reviewed in this case were available or compiled at the time of trial. (V57, 7615).

Dr. Berland seemed largely contrived or inconsequential.¹⁷ <u>Jones</u> <u>v. State</u>, 998 So. 2d 573, 586-587 (Fla. 2008) (We have repeatedly held that counsel is not ineffective for failing to present cumulative evidence.)(string cites omitted).

For example, when asked if the jury heard during the penalty phase, that Crain sexually abused a number of young girls, Dr. Cunningham answered that he did not know, but went further to incorrectly suggest Dr. Berland "opened the door" to such testimony. Dr. Cunningham testified: "Dr. Berland had made a comment that opened the door to some extent. I don't recall whether Mr. Pruner then followed up putting on evidence regarding that or not." (V57, 7622). While claiming familiarity with Florida's capital sentencing scheme, Dr. Cunningham was unaware that prior violent felonies and specifically, Crain's prior adjudicated offenses against young girls were admitted into evidence in the penalty phase [prior violent felony aggravator]. "That I can't speak specifically to." (V57, 7622-23). Rather than acknowledging that the State properly presented Crain's prior violent criminal history in

¹⁷ One of the very few new items offered by Dr. Cunningham was that Crain suffers from micropenis disorder. The postconviction court was suitably unimpressed with this alleged disorder as mitigation. (V5, 943-44). Further, any argument by Crain that this disorder somehow mitigates his conduct could be countered by potentially devastating argument by the State, i.e., that Crain molested young girls in order to feel more substantial.

this case, Dr. Cunningham simply assumed or speculated that Dr. Berland "opened the door" to this evidence; an incorrect assumption on Dr. Cunningham's part, but one which clearly indicates either his bias in favor of the defense or, lack of knowledge regarding Florida's capital sentencing scheme.¹⁸

In sum, it is clear that Crain's trial counsel thoroughly investigated Crain's background and mental health history. Counsel retained a qualified expert who provided highly favorable testimony during the penalty phase below. The record clearly refutes the instant ineffective assistance of penalty phase counsel claim. <u>See Gorby v. State</u>, 819 So. 2d 664, 676 (Fla. 2002) (finding counsel was not ineffective where each allegation "is either wholly unsupported by evidence, was actually presented as mitigation evidence, or is related to nonstatutory mitigation found to exist by the trial judge.").

¹⁸ Interestingly enough, although the trial judge found Crain had been sexually abused as a child by his mother from information provided by the defense in the penalty phase, Dr. Cunningham acknowledged that Crain was the only source of that information. Dr. Cunningham acknowledged that Crain failed to provide this information to the other post-conviction expert retained by the Moreover, Dr. Cunningham admitted that defense, Dr. Sesta. Crain's there was collateral data supporting no abuse children complaining of allegation, such as other being victimized by Crain's mother. (V57, 7616-20). Of course, Dr. Cunningham agreed that there was ample corroboration of Crain's own pedophilia, i.e., multiple sexual abuse victims.

Crain Has Failed To Establish Prejudice Under Strickland

In addition to its finding that counsel rendered effective assistance in the penalty phase, the post-conviction court also found Crain failed to establish prejudice. The court concluded, in part:

Finally, the Court notes that in its sentencing order, the trial court found the existence of each of the 3 aggravators argued by the State: the victim was less than 12 years old; the murder occurred during a kidnapping; and Defendant was previously convicted of felonies involving the use or threat of use of violence against another, and gave each aggravator great weight. The trial court further found the following mitigators: although the trial court was not reasonably convinced Defendant was psychotic or had a brain injury, the trial court found Defendant was an uncured pedophile, and therefore, Defendant's mental health was impaired and his mental health problems were exacerbated by the use of alcohol and drugs (some weight); as an uncured pedophile, his capacity to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was substantially impaired (some weight); Defendant was intoxicated at the time of the crime (some weight); Defendant has an extensive history of substance abuse (some weight); Defendant has a history of abuse and unstable home life (modest weight); the Defendant was deprived of the education benefits and social learning that one would normally obtain from a public education (modest weight); Defendant experienced depression and suicidal ideation in the months leading up to his arrest (little weight); Defendant had a history of hard, productive work, starting and running а successful business (some weight); Defendant has а good prison record (modest weight); Defendant has the capacity to form loving relationships (modest weight). (See sentencing order, attached). The Court further notes that the jury unanimously recommended the death sentence. (See advisory sentence, attached).

Consequently, in light of the aggravators and mitigators established during the sentencing proceedings, the Court finds that even after

considering all of the additional mitigation testimony and evidence presented during the instant evidentiary hearings including but not limited _ to neuropsychological evidence of mild brain impairment, antisocial personality disorder, evidence of adverse risk factors developmental and а possible nexus between those factors and behavior or moral culpability, possible fetal alcohol exposure, micropenis disorder or penile dysmorphophobia, and Defendant's positive adjustment to prison - Defendant has still failed to show that the outcome of the proceedings would have been different as required under Strickland. There is no reasonable probability that such additional mitigation evidence would have outweighed the aggravating circumstances and resulted in the imposition of a life sentence. See Strickland, 466 U.S. at 695, 695 ("When a defendant challenges a death sentence . . . the question is whether there is a reasonable probability that, absent the errors, the sentencer . . . would have concluded that the balance of aggravating and mitigating circumstances did not warrant death."); Hitchcock v. State, 991 So. 2d 337 (Fla. 2008)(finding postconviction court did not err in determining there was no reasonable probability that the outcome would have been different where the aggravating factors were "extremely weighty."). As such, no relief is warranted on claim 4.

(V5, 943-44).

As found by the court below, assuming *arguendo* some deficiency can be discerned from trial counsel's investigation of, and, presentation of mental health issues during the penalty phase, Crain fails to meet his burden of demonstrating resulting prejudice. As for the second prong of the <u>Strickland</u> test, "[a] petitioner's burden of establishing that his lawyer's deficient performance prejudiced his case is also high." <u>Van Poyck v.</u> Fla. Dep't of Corr., 290 F.3d 1318, 1322 (11th Cir. 2002). "It

is not enough for the defendant to show that the errors had some conceivable effect on the outcome of the proceeding." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 693. Instead, when a petitioner challenges a death sentence, "the question is whether there is a reasonable probability that, absent the errors, the sentencer . . . would have concluded that the balance of aggravating and mitigating circumstances did not warrant death." Id. at 695. See Gaskin v. State, 737 So. 2d 509, 516 n.14 (Fla. 1999) ("Prejudice, in the context of penalty phase errors, is shown where, absent the errors, there is a reasonable probability that the balance of aggravating and mitigating circumstances would have been different or the deficiencies substantially impair confidence in the outcome of the proceedings.").

Collateral counsel in this case did nothing more than repackage the testimony presented by the defense at trial with the benefit of a different expert witness. This was simply not a close case as evidenced by the jury's unanimous death recommendation. Crain's prior violent felony aggravator alone far outweighs any additional mitigation collateral counsel might have uncovered and presented. Crain repeatedly threatened,

intimidated, and sexually abused young girls.¹⁹ The outcome of the penalty phase is not called into question by the somewhat different presentation collateral counsel now offers through Dr. Cunningham. <u>See Routly v. State</u>, 590 So. 2d 397, 401-402 (Fla. 1991) (additional evidence as to defendant's difficult childhood and significant educational/behavioral problems did not provide a reasonable probability of life sentence if evidence had been presented.)

ISSUE IV

WHETHER APPELLANT'S LAWYERS WERE UNCONSTITUTIONALLY PREVENTED FROM INTERVIEWING THE JURORS?

Crain complains that his lawyers are unfairly prohibited from questioning his jurors after the trial in an effort to establish reversible error. As found by the post-conviction court below, this claim is both procedurally barred and without merit. (V5, 948-49).

Appellee submits that the instant claim was procedurally barred as it was a claim that could have been raised on direct

¹⁹ The trial court found three aggravators; prior violent felonies (great weight), the murder was committed during the course of a kidnapping (great weight), and that the victim was under the age of twelve (great weight). Of particularly strong weight in this case are defendant's prior violent felony convictions--five counts of sexual battery and one count of aggravated child abuse. (V2, 310). The defendant was a violent chronic abuser of young girls, an "uncured pedophile." (V2, 315).

appeal, but was not.²⁰ <u>See Ragsdale v. State</u>, 720 So. 2d 203, 205 n.1 & 2 (Fla. 1998); <u>Gaskin v. State</u>, 737 So. 2d at 530 n.6; <u>see also Brown v. State</u>, 755 So. 2d 616, 620-21, n.1, 4, 5, 7 (Fla. 2000); <u>Mann v. State</u>, 770 So. 2d 1158, 1161, n.2 (Fla. 2000). In any case, Crain does not even mention any particular allegation of error which necessitates an inquiry of the jurors. Further, even if Crain could point to such an error, inquiry of the jury is clearly improper in the absence of external influence or exposure to extra record communication. No such allegation has been made here. Accordingly, Crain's claim must be rejected.

This Court has repeatedly rejected the claim that the rule prohibiting his counsel from interviewing jurors, Rule 4-3.5(d)(4) of the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar, is unconstitutional because it violates his constitutional rights of equal protection and due process. Such a fishing expedition is properly prohibited as a matter of state law and offends no

²⁰ On appeal, Crain does not repeat his allegation that counsel was ineffective for failing to preserve or present this issue to the trial court below. Any such challenge would clearly fail, as found by the trial court below. Since the claim is clearly without merit, trial counsel cannot be considered ineffective in failing to raise the claim in trial court, resulting in the procedural default.

constitutional principles.²¹ <u>See Barnhill v. State</u>, 971 So. 2d 106, 116-17 (Fla. 2007)("We deny relief on this issue consistent with our prior decisions which have found that rule 4-3.5(d)(4) and rule 3.575, which collectively restrict an attorney's ability to interview jurors after trial, do not violate the defendant's constitutional rights.")(string cites omitted); <u>See</u> <u>also Tompkins v. State</u>, 994 So. 2d 1072 (Fla. 2008); <u>Sexton v.</u> <u>State</u>, 997 So. 2d 1073, 1089 (Fla. 2008); <u>Evans v. State</u>, 995 So. 2d 933 (Fla. 2008).

Because Appellant's claim is procedurally barred and without merit, this Court should affirm the post-conviction court's summary denial of the instant claim.

²¹ Florida's rules are consistent with those employed by federal courts and offend no constitutional principle. <u>See</u> Federal Rule of Evidence 606(b) (limiting inquiry of jurors to allegations of prejudicial extraneous information or external influence); <u>U.S.</u> <u>v. Powell</u>, 469 U.S. 57, 67 (1984) ("Courts have always resisted inquiring into a jury's thought processes, <u>see McDonald v.</u> <u>Pless</u>, 238 U.S. 264, 35 S. Ct. 783, 59 L.Ed. 1300 (1915); Fed. Rule Evid. 606(b) (stating that jurors are generally incompetent to testify concerning jury deliberations); through this deference the jury brings to the criminal process, in addition to the collective judgment of the community, an element of needed finality.").

ISSUE V

WHETHER CUMULATIVE ERRORS DENIED APPELLANT THE RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL?

Appellant claims in his final issue that the arguments contained in his brief, when considered cumulatively by this Court, should cause this Court to vacate his judgment and sentence and order a new trial. The State has shown, however, that none of Crain's claims have merit. The lower court agreed and found that because Crain failed to establish any of his allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel, he was not entitled to relief under a cumulative error analysis. (V5, 950).

Because there is no individual error to consider, Crain is not entitled to combine meritless issues together in an attempt to create a valid "cumulative error" claim. <u>See Brown v. State</u>, 846 So. 2d 1114, 1126 (Fla. 2003) (upholding lower court's denial of cumulative error claim when each of the individual claims of ineffective assistance of counsel had been denied); <u>Mann v. Moore</u>, 794 So. 2d 595 (Fla. 2001) (finding no cumulative effect to consider where all claims were either meritless or procedurally barred); <u>Downs</u>, 740 So. 2d at 509 (concluding that where allegations of individual error do not warrant relief, a cumulative error argument based thereon is without merit).

CONCLUSION

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